

Social Housing, Neighbourhood Revitalization and Community Economic Development

by Ian Skelton, Cheryl Selig and Lawrence Deane



Acknowledgements

We are happy to acknowledge the generous financial support of the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council, grant #538-2002-1003, via the Manitoba Research Alliance on Community Economic Development in the New Economy.

This report is available free of charge from the CCPA website at www.policyalternatives. ca. Printed copies may be ordered through the Manitoba Office for a \$10 fee.

About the Authors

Ian Skelton teaches in the Department of City Planning at the University of Manitoba. His work focuses on social policy and low-cost housing provision, and on processes of social marginalization.

Cheryl Selig is a Junior Planner with the Greater Moncton Planning District Commission.

Lawrence Deane, MSW, PH.D, is Assistant Professor at the Inner City Social Work Program of the University of Manitoba. His focus is on community economic development, policy, and cross-cultural social work. He is on the Boards of the North End Housing Project, Inner City Development Inc., and Ogijiita Pimatiswin Kinamatwin. All are inner city housing, employment, and community development organizations.





Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada



CCPA

CANADIAN CENTRE for POLICY ALTERNATIVES CENTRE CANADIEN de POLITIQUES ALTERNATIVES

Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
INTRODUCTION	3
SOCIAL HOUSING AND NEIGHBOURHOOD REVITALIZATION	4
COMMUNITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT	6
CED PRINCIPLES	7
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONS	9
INTERVIEWS	11
Decision-Making	11
Employment and Training	13
Disposition of Housing Resources	14
Flows of Financial Resources	16
Social Capital	18
Summary	20
RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS	22
BIBLIOGRAPHY	24
APPENDIX: INTERVIEW SCHEDLILES	26

Executive Summary

Winnipeg has implemented a number of innovative programs to address inner-city decline. The city is forced to address these problems with fewer financial and program resources than are available in larger cities. This report examines the processes of housing production as part of a larger neighbourhood revitalization initiative in several of Winnipeg's inner-city areas. Specifically, the research focused on the application of community economic development (CED) principles in the building and rehabilitation of housing in these neighbourhoods. The goal of the research has been to develop an understanding of how the current programs compare to theoretical models of community economic development. This report presents the current environment of Winnipeg's inner-city neighbourhoods, models of community economic development, and an analysis of qualitative data derived from interviews with government officials and social housing developers. Specifically, the analysis suggests:

- That a bias seems to exist in the minds of many working in housing and community development against rental housing and in favour of owner occupation; and
- That there is an orientation towards getting houses built rather than thinking in CED terms about how to maximize benefits for community revitalization.

Recommendations are made to strengthen CED and social housing.

Social Housing, Neighbourhood Revitalization and Community Economic Development

by Ian Skelton, Cheryl Selig and Lawrence Deane

CANADIAN CENTRE FOR POLICY ALTERNATIVES- MANITOBA

INTRODUCTION

Winnipeg has designated specific neighbourhoods as Housing Improvement Zones, qualifying these areas for housing program funds. At the time of this study, there were five neighbourhoods that received funding through the provincial "Neighbourhoods Alive!" program. This funding is generally administered by community development corporations or neighbourhood associations, which have been developing their capacity to bring about social and economic change in their neighbourhoods.

Winnipeg's inner-city neighbourhoods are concerned about deteriorating housing stock. Ten percent of Winnipeg's dwellings are in need of major repair. This significantly exceeds the national average of 7 percent and is the highest per cent in Canada's 25 metropolitan areas (Carter et al. 2005). Of Canada's 25 largest metropolitan regions, Winnipeg has the eighth largest population. However, when indicators such as population change, education, employment, income, poverty and housing conditions are assessed, the city ranks eighteenth on a list of 25 metropolitan cities. This is primarily due to the high proportion of homes in need of major repair, one of the highest proportions of older dwellings, and poverty levels for households and individuals that are slightly higher than the national average (Carter et al. 2005).

Neighbourhoods with abandoned houses and rundown housing stock are considered to be neighbourhoods in decline. When cities or communities desire to combat decline, their primary focus is on rehabilitating or stabilizing the housing stock. Due to its visibility, housing is used to motivate community members because they can see the results of their efforts (Green & Haines 2002).

Housing is important not only because it is highly visible but also due to its social and economic significance. Vidal has stated that: "[r]eplacing housing [will] stabilize the population, restore the functioning of the housing market and re-establish the market for commercial activity that [will], in turn support new businesses to fill vacant lots and boarded-up storefronts" (1997: 432). Housing production contributes significantly to an economy due to the many and diverse inputs required in building a home. "The residential construction share of output or GDP generally fluctuates around 5 percent.... Relatively high labour content in the housing sector and linkages to domestic manufacturing make housing investment an attractive candidate for governments wishing to stimulate output and employment" (Jackson 2004: 4).

Housing also has a significant economic impact

on the community as it can increase investment potential, making residents, businesses, developers, banks and insurance companies more inclined to invest in the community (Riggin et al. 1992). This makes it easier to obtain insurance, secure loans and finance commercial projects in the neighbourhood.

Owning a home has economic benefit for households, as it is a source of financial security and a means of asset accumulation (Jackson 2004). While home ownership provides financial security, exclusive support for this tenure adversely affects renters. In Canada, Jackson (2004: 1) observes that "...[E]xclusion from home ownership and dependence on private rental housing markets has greatly increased wealth and income gaps between owners and renters." Kemeny (1995) uses the term 'ratchet effect' to describe the process through which continuing support for owner occupation progressively marginalizes people in other tenure groups. While housing programs in Canada and other countries have historically focused on home ownership with the expected outcomes of macroeconomic stimulation, and economic and social benefits afforded to homeowners (Skelton 1998), this results in a stigmatization of renters and hinders their economic potential.

In recent years urban policy has focused on owner occupation in inner-city revitalization strategies in the expectation that it will promote neighbourhood stability. The Manitoba government's decision to give priority of community economic development (CED) has prompted local organizations to adopt practices compatible with CED in their revitalization work. This study examines the social housing component of neighbourhood revitalization in Winnipeg to assess and support its involvement with CED. The next section describes social housing policy in its relationship with neighbourhood revitalization, and is followed by sections on CED and community development corporations that set out expectations for exemplary practices. This is

followed by analysis of interviews held during the summer of 2004 with government officials and neighbourhood workers involved in neighbourhood revitalization in Winnipeg. The final section consists of recommendations and conclusions.

SOCIAL HOUSING AND NEIGHBOURHOOD REVITALIZATION

Due to the disinvestments that have occurred in some of Winnipeg's inner-city neighbourhoods housing prices fell to such low levels over the recent period that private investors no longer invested in these neighbourhoods. This prompted communities to address their housing needs through diverse housing programs and initiatives. These groups rely on government funding for the majority of their affordable housing provision initiatives. Affordable housing is often defined: "...as a relationship between housing costs and income. If housing costs are perceived to be too high relative to household income, then a housing affordability problem is perceived to exist" (Chisholm 2003:3). Housing affordability is based on the ratio between household income and housing costs, and the convention is that housing should take no more than 30 percent of pre-tax income. Affordability is one of three tests for core housing need according to the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC). The other two are adequacy, referring to structural conditions, and suitability, referring to occupancy standards (CMHC 1991).

In Canada, since the end of World War II the federal and provincial governments provided varying amounts of funding for social housing programs (Skelton 1998). The 1993 federal government decision to freeze funding for social housing had a devastatingly significant impact on social housing provision. While there has been federal re-investment in housing since 2002, the current Affordable Housing Initiative does not target the same population as previous social housing funding. The federal government's ac-

tions in 1993 and its continued reluctance to involve itself in funding housing through long-term subsidy arrangements reflects its position in an on-going debate as to who should shoulder the responsibility of providing housing to those in core housing need.

The controversy stems from strong views in regards to what government's role should be in ensuring housing or whether government should be involved in providing housing for everyone; and the recognition that housing is a universal need regardless of economic status or social conditions. This is especially pertinent in Canada where climatic conditions are such that adequate housing is especially essential.

The prevalence of core housing need nationally in 2001 was about 13.7 percent for all households, and about 6.6 percent for owners and 28.3 percent for renters. It was drastically higher for lowincome groups, at 57.5 percent for households earning from \$10,000 to under \$20,000; and 80.5 percent for households earning under \$10,000 (CMHC 2005). Persistent levels of core housing need in a predominantly market-driven housing system such as that in Canada (Skelton 1998), call for public intervention through social housing. Chisholm (2003) notes that in social housing, residents receive subsidies in order to make their housing affordable. Referring to the complex of resource flows across social programs to citizens as users of housing, Sewell (1994) points out that all Canadians receive some form of subsidy for housing. Many of these, such as capital gains exemptions for house sellers and tax shelters for house buyers, are indicators of direct social support for owner occupation. Others, such as infrastructure spending that fuels suburban expansion, are indirect and operate through prevailing land use and development patterns.

Sewell's argument is a trenchant commentary on how the welfare state in Canada benefits different categories of people. It does not, however, draw attention to the specific processes surrounding the development and implementation of programs directed to affordability and core housing need. In Canada there have been two major, though brief, periods of social housing: centrally planned public housing from the mid 1960s to early 1970s; and decentralized co-operatives and non-profits from the early 1970s until the 1993 funding freeze (Skelton 2000). With recent federal initiatives a new period of social housing work is emerging. The social housing portfolio now includes the stock built up during earlier periods, and additional social housing developed by local co-operative and non-profit organizations as well as by neighbourhood-based community development corporations.

While the federal government has periodically invested in funding social housing, it has always attempted to funnel funding through the provincial governments and therefore not wholly engage in the policy and provision of housing. The federal government has pursued this approach to ensure that responsibility for social housing would not become entrenched at the federal level. Policy development for social housing therefore remains a provincial responsibility, though it can be strongly affected by municipalities through control of zoning, standards of maintenance and occupancy by-laws.

As a result of the current proliferation of organizations involved in developing and maintaining social housing, there must be local structures and capacities in place to allow for the operation of the housing programs. In Winnipeg, such structures or organizations have formed and have begun to develop the capacity to rehabilitate and construct housing in their neighbourhoods. Due to the neighbourhood decline that is evident in these areas, housing initiatives often have economic and social development objectives. Because of these goals, most groups have begun to talk about housing in conjunction with broader goals, and facilitated by the provincial government priority, with community economic development prin-

ciples. The following section examines the existing community economic development literature with the intention of providing a context for the analysis of the research data that focused on the application of community economic development principles to affordable housing provision.

COMMUNITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

There are several foundational principles for effective community economic development. The first is that small innovative businesses tend to be more labour intensive than larger plants, so these may be a more appropriate focus for development efforts (Blakely 1994). Second, "[t]he organization or group of institutions responsible for implementing or coordinating the economic change should be involved in determining the process" (Blakely 1994: 65). Only if the organizations play a role in determining the process will there be sufficient support and initiative to ensure that projects or programs are implemented after the initial enthusiasm subsides. Finally, the area or community of interest being targeted should be clearly defined, while keeping in mind that no economy ends or begins at neighbourhood or municipal boundaries.

Blakely outlines six elements, which should be goals of community economic development:

- Generating employment for particular groups
- Gaining control over the local/ neighbourhood economy
- Inspiring self-help and cooperative grouporiented assistance
- Operating for the public benefit
- Providing an alternative or intermediate sector for economic activity
- Promoting democratic management and

control of enterprises. (Blakely 1994: 227)

These principles are good starting points for community-based economic development, however, they are not entirely holistic in that the focus is very much on economics and not balanced with social considerations that are essential in community economic development. Blakely also focuses on an export promotion strategy and neglects to consider the potential of import substitution.

Community economic development focused on import substitution, or the creation of jobs and goods and services for local use, can create significant economic opportunities for communities. This approach is often seen in contrast to export promotion strategies. Whereas export promotion focuses on production for markets outside the local community, import substitution focuses on local production to meet local basic needs. Export promotion has been criticized because it can offer less potential to capture income for local residents. The jobs created by export promotion tend to have lower skill levels and many of the benefits "leak" out of the community and do not accrue to local residents (Fairbairn et al., 1991).

Import substitution CED, creating internal linkages, differs in that the focus is on development from within instead of from without. Instead of framing individuals as dependants or passive recipients, it reframes people's positions, recognizing their agency and power. The focus is on enhancing and capitalizing existing resources, including investing in individuals, in order to develop their knowledge, skills, and assets (Levine et al. 2002). The approach seeks to strengthen economic structures so that the generation of local jobs and income becomes a self-reinforcing process.

While skill, knowledge and asset development are key for neighbourhood residents, it is essential to bear in mind that these must be pursued while maintaining contact with the wider economy (Kanter 1995). Establishing linkages internally is

important but in today's economic context, it is imperative to create linkages or networks nationally and globally as this allows communities to overcome barriers such as size and location. "A small community is not limited by its size in the skill it can develop, knowledge it can retain, or technology it can acquire" (Shuman 1998: 80). The concept of community economic development being proposed here can be articulated in the following manner: "...[A] needs-driven economy need not eliminate all imports, and otherwise purge residents of global tastes; the aim is only to minimize imports of the basics and create a local economy where much more can be done in the backyard" (Shuman 1998: 78).

Fairbairn et al. (1991) have proposed a rusty bucket analogy to articulate the import substitution approach of community economic development. In this analogy, the community is symbolized by a rusty bucket: income is represented by water and the water level in the bucket reflects how much of the income is staying in the community. Rusted holes in the bucket represent leakages or expenditures for items such as rent, groceries, and utilities. After these expenses are paid to outside businesses, there is little income left to circulate within the community and increase its economic opportunities. Communities that desire greater economic opportunities can look at ways of plugging the holes in the bucket (Fairbairn et al. 1991). The way to avoid or combat a leaky bucket scenario in a community is by creating linkages within the economy (Douglas 1994: 11). Generally, linkages are of three types. Backward linkages are opportunities to provide inputs to community production. Forward linkages are opportunities to utilize the outputs of community production. And final demand linkages are those that do not process a product any further before consumption. Increasing linkages will mean that any given production process (or delivery of service) in an economy will provide stimulus and employment to other production or services in the community.

An economy that has high levels of local linkage retains income for its own residents and maximizes their employment. Increasing local circulation sometimes has potential to add more significantly to local income than export promotion. Such strategies may also be more manageable for local community groups than the large-scale business undertakings (Fairbairn et al. 1991).

Many community economic development groups advocate import substitution as an approach to improving their economies. Rather than importing products such as groceries or housing from outside suppliers, the community finds ways to supply these products itself.

A focus on the local economy that stresses self-reliance and community control does not mean transforming the community into a fortress. Although self-reliance is often associated with individualism; the term "community self-reliance" signifies a process of empowering communities while decreasing dependence on outside markets (Shuman 1998). No community will have all the necessary resources to achieve its goals. Communities are not expected to isolate themselves from the global economy. However, a useful strategy is to make only those outside connections that are seen as necessary for enabling the creation of linkages within a neighbourhood based economy.

The research for this project relied upon the following set of CED principles to frame its discussion on CED and how it relates to affordable housing provision in Winnipeg. These principles, adopted by the Manitoba government in 2001 as part of its CED Framework, are based on *It's Up To All Of Us*, a list of CED principles developed Neechi Foods Co-Op Ltd., a Winnipeg-based Aboriginal worker cooperative.

CED PRINCIPLES

1. Use of locally produced goods and services

Purchase of goods and services produced locally

- Circulation of income within the local community
- Stronger economic links within the local community
- Less dependency on outside markets
- Greater community self-reliance

2. Production of goods and services for local use

- Purchase of goods and services produced locally
- Circulation of income within the local community
- Stronger economic links within the local community
- Less dependency on outside markets
- Greater community self-reliance
- Restoration of balance in the local community

3. Local Re-investment of Profits

- Employment in areas that have experienced chronic unemployment or underemployment
- Investment that increases community selfreliance and co-operation

4. Long-term employment of local residents

- Employment in areas that have experienced chronic unemployment or underemployment
- Reduction of dependency on welfare and food banks
- Opportunities to live more socially productive lives
- Personal and community self-esteem

• More salaries spent in the local community

5. Local skill development

- Training local residents, geared to community development needs
- Higher labour productivity
- More employment in communities that have experienced high unemployment

6.Local decision-making

- Local, co-operative forms of ownership and control
- Grassroots involvement
- Community self-determination
- Working together to meet community needs

7. Public Health

- Physical and mental health of community residents
- Healthier families
- More effective schooling
- More productive workforce

8. Physical environment

- Healthy, safe and attractive neighbourhoods
- Ecological sensitivity

9. Neighbourhood Stability

- Dependable housing
- Long term residency
- Long term community development

10. Human dignity

1. Self-respect and community spirit

8 Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives

- 2. Gender equality
- 3. Respect for seniors and children
- Social dignity regardless of physical, intellectual or psychological differences; regardless of national or ethnic background, colour or creed.

11. Support solidarity among self-reliant communities

(Neighbourhoods Alive! 2002: 4)

This model is much more specific and holistic than other models presented. It addresses many of the social elements that must be included for neighbourhood-based economic development to be successful. Additionally, there is a focus on creating essential economic linkages. Having presented some models of community economic development, the next section will examine the structure that community organizations often adopt when pursuing their CED goals, specifically in relation to affordable housing provision.

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIONS

In order to secure funding under current arrangements in Winnipeg, neighbourhoods must incorporate a legal entity. Generally—if there is a concern for physical and social conditions—the model they adopt is that of a community development corporation (CDC). These corporations are nonprofits and community based, with their mandate and vision coming from community processes. This section first establishes the connection between CED and housing revitalization work and then continues with a study of the literature on CDCs. The following draws on the extensive experience with these organizations in housing and CED in the USA.

Rubin explains why housing connects with a community economic development approach in the following manner. It "brings about physical development within the neighbourhood and creates assets among individuals, stimulating cycles of self-maintaining economic and social growth" (1994: 410). Rubin also talks about recycling money within the community or creating linkages to prevent money from leaving the community, through job creation and employment programs.

According to Blakely, CDCs should:

- Use private development techniques for public purposes
- Target benefits to communities and individuals in need
- Mobilize local initiative to address local priorities
- Take a long-term approach to development
- Link planning to implementation
- Understand and work with the processes of both the public and the private sectors
- Legally can and in practice do attract both public and private resources in a variety of roles
- Work directly with small businesses
- Reinvest resources in the community
- Have incentives to operate programs efficiently
- Transfer capacity among program activities. (1994: 230)

While these principles are important for CDCs, this model fails to acknowledge the non-economic activities that CDCs engage in to achieve social development as well as economic improvement. Aside from the financial constraints within which CDCs must work, there are also equally important community needs. These considerations might

include the ability of tenants to pay their rent, whether homeownership is viable for everyone, special housing considerations that must be accounted for, access to employment for neighbourhood residents, and how outsiders and residents perceive of the neighbourhood.

Current approaches to housing produced by CDCs typically attempt to incorporate provisions to ensure long-term affordability. The following such principles of housing are recommended by Davis (1994: 5-6):

- It is privately owned. Title to residential real estate is held by an individual, a family, or a private corporation. The property is owned by neither an instrumentality of the state nor a municipal corporation
- It is socially oriented. The property's primary function is to meet the social needs of current—and future—occupants, not to accumulate wealth for the property's owners. While the need for safe, decent, and affordable housing is paramount here, the property's "social orientation" often includes a collaborative component as well; that is, individual households are linked together in a residential network of pooled risk, mutual aid, and/or operational support.
- It is price-restricted. A contractual limit
 is placed on the future price at which the
 property's units may be rented or resold,
 preserving their affordability for a targeted
 class of low-income or moderate-income
 residents. Prices are established by a
 predetermined formula, not by the market.

The final requirement listed here is an element that has been left out of many housing initiatives. Social housing was originally developed in Canada under thirty-year arrangements. Currently, affordable housing is only restricted for approximately five to fifteen years dependent upon the stipulations of the grants that are used in rehabilitating the housing.

The current housing paradigm in the USA, which focuses on the development and maintenance of affordable housing by nonprofits such as CDCs, has resulted because of a redefinition of public and private responsibilities (Goetz 1993). The progressive policy paradigm, according to Goetz: "is based on an analysis of urban development that stresses the social and classbased distribution of benefits and costs in urban development" (1993: 80). This emphasis arose out of recognition that as downtowns revitalize, inner-city neighbourhoods tend to gentrify, which means that low-income households are displaced and their social relationships disrupted (Goetz 1993). With the current emphasis in Winnipeg on the revitalization of the downtown area, it is essential to recognize this possible course of events and put in place policies and strategies that will combat or prevent this effect.

A tenet of progressive policy is that the market might not distribute the benefits of development in an equitable manner; therefore, under this paradigm there is a focus on non-market techniques. Following is Cavel's description of progressive municipal policy as presented by Goetz: "the expanded public regulation of private property; the promotion of alternatives to regulation to the private market; and the increased participation of citizens and community-based interests" (1993: 82). Goetz goes on to propose a fourth element which should be added to the list: "the identification of specific community-based or other defined interest groups toward which to channel the benefits of development" (1993:82). Many elements are necessary in a holistic, neighbourhood-based revitalization strategy. The following analysis will focus on how Winnipeg's inner-city neighbourhoods approach affordable housing projects and community economic development. This will be examined by focusing on the areas of: decision-making, social capital, employment and training, disposition of housing resources, and flows of money. The goal is to understand what some of the challenges are to more effectively integrating CED principles into housing programs in Winnipeg and to suggest possible ideas or models for improving application of the CED principles outlined above.

INTERVIEWS

During the summer of 2004, semi-structured interviews were held with 18 key people involved in community development in Winnipeg, including government officials and representatives of community development corporations and non-profit housing groups. The interview protocols (see Appendix) consisted of about 10 open-ended questions intended to gauge the use of CED principles in the processes in place for developing low-cost housing in the city. The set of CED principles reproduced above was sent to interview participants beforehand so that they could prepare for the interviews. This may have inflated the awareness of CED principles and their adoption in the area; though if it did so, this would not detract from the substantive conclusions and recommendations of the project.

Interviews were audiotaped and transcribed, and the transcripts were analyzed through a process of successive reading and coding. The process was guided by Mason's (2002) statement on data reading and informed by critical data analysis (for further details of the analysis see Selig 2005). The computer-assisted qualitative-data analysis software Atlas-Ti¹ was employed as the analytical interface. The remainder of this section is organized around themes significant in the CED literature.

Decision-Making

The informants highlighted several levels of decision-making in all the neighbourhoods and within all the organizations. Organizational decision-making, in which there are decisions about the types of programs, how to fund projects and whom to hire, was the most significant and discussed the most often because informants were speaking for their organizations, companies or neighbourhood associations. For the nonprofits that are not community based there are decisions that are the responsibility of the neighbourhood associations but which have a direct impact on their work as nonprofits rehabilitating housing in the neighbourhood.

There was some indication from several informants that they would rather not or do not access government funding as this inhibits their decision-making abilities and their freedom to act independently.

...the benefits of being independent gives us more freedom in making choices, allows us to act quickly if we want to do something one way we can go in that direction. (Interview 1)

While this allows for more freedom in terms of the projects that are implemented, the program is based on owner occupation, and it is not clear that the organization has taken full advantage of its freedom to act unilaterally. Although housing organizations in Winnipeg do not currently meet on a regular basis to talk about their programs, there is a high level of informal organization, resulting in a consensus among the various players about who works where and the activities they engage in.

Rental rates in social housing produced by many local organizations, including the rates for the homes that were renovated under the Residential Rehabilitation Assistance Program (RRAP) and placed in rent-to-own arrangements, are set by government regulations. Because regulations stipulate the income levels of those who may

¹ The authors are grateful to the CADLab, Faculty of Architecture, University of Manitoba for providing computer hardware and software.

qualify for occupancy, much of the program format is dictated by the available funding structures. As well, funding stipulations necessarily restrict which neighbourhoods receive government support for social housing.

Not so much us as the government, in other words the government [gives] grants for the rehabilitation work of certain areas of the city and not others. (Interview 2)

Although this informant argues that government funding policy restricts their ability to choose where they carry out their housing work, the reason for such stipulations is that housing funding is intended to address housing problems for lower-income earners. Funds are available for neighbourhoods identified by the City as having the greatest social, economic, housing, and infrastructure needs. Work in these neighbourhoods is also intended to complement other neighbourhood revitalization strategies.

All of the neighbourhoods that are designated as Major Improvement Areas by the City of Winnipeg have locally active development corporations. One development corporation serves several neighbourhoods but there are neighbourhood associations that work in conjunction with it. The development corporations have some decision-making capacity in that if there are other groups operating in the neighbourhood their plans must be approved by the development corporation. The perception of some respondents is that this control is pervasive, but in fact it occurs in some localities and not others.

All of the neighbourhood renewal corporations have actually generated some sort of sub-committee of their board or residents committee that's actually looking at projects that are being proposed for their neighbourhood regardless of who brings them forward and making decisions of how well they fit into their plan, whether they have merit and they make that recommendation. (Interview 4)

So, it was obvious at the start of the program that those groups had built some capacity and had started to work already, they had projects that they wanted to do.... The other thing is that in those designated neighbourhoods there has been a fair amount of investment by the city of Winnipeg and by the province in developing neighbourhood plans. So in those neighbourhoods we have always agreed that if things are going to be done they have to be consistent with the neighbourhood plan. (Interview 6)

In some localities the relationship between non-profit housing developers and the CDC is merely collegial.

At the government level there is strong support for local decision-making as this is an integral part of community economic development.

Local decision-making I think is important too. And one of the things we have been doing is funding local organizations in the community to do housing for us. So that is sort of a community process, that we are not part of but are supporting the community organizations to do that. (Interview 3).

This informant believes that government's role is to support communities in the process of developing housing and achieving positive social results, as well as to facilitate community-based decision-making.

While there is a fair amount of talk about community decision-making, many of the development corporation employees do not live in the neighbourhoods. Where this occurs, it means that people who do not live in the neighbourhood are making many of the decisions about what will happen in the area. It also means that the salaries being paid to the employees are leaving the local

economy thus diminishing the potential economic impact. Residents' roles on boards of directors are sometimes devalued by respondents and described as tokenistic, or residents are thought to not be capable of understanding or participating in the more detailed aspects of board activities.

What we do try and do is to have the community development approach which means organizing block parties or something in which case people on the board can more easily participate in something like that. (Interview 8)

This quote indicates that there is opportunity to increase the level of local decision-making that takes place at the neighbourhood level. It is important to note that housing groups have to have their plans approved by the development corporations and possibly a neighbourhood association as well. Thus the CDCs are responsible for a significant amount of decision-making in the neighbourhoods.

One organization does include residents in much of the decision-making and uses their challenges as opportunities for residents to participate and gain knowledge in the process.

Dealing with a construction company, a larger construction company it [local decision making] is lost because you are constantly begging for them to come back and do the details and they have power to some extent. Although, then the local decision-making comes in and you can pull in residents and say at what point do we take this to the insurance company or the new home royalty program, there is a learning process there. (Interview 13)

This is an example of local decision-making that results in a transfer of knowledge and can result in local empowerment and social development in conjunction with any form of economic development. A component of social development is social capital, and a subsequent section provides examples of social-capital development in the neighbourhoods. First, however, we turn to more material elements of the housing production practices.

Employment and Training

Predominantly, the employment of inner-city residents by housing organizations is restricted to shovelling walks and working as apartment superintendents and maintenance employees. One exception is an employment-creation initiative specifically designed to combine CED principles with housing redevelopment, which has created employment in construction for 20-25 inner city residents. The initiative pays better than average wages for the industry, provides benefits, subsidizes training and apprenticeships, and provides scope for employee ownership and employee participation in management. It hires not only inner-city labour but inner-city tradespersons as well. The project was initially conceived as a joint venture among four housing organizations and two employment-creation initiatives. While the largest housing organization utilized the initiative for all its renovation work, other partners were more hesitant to do so. They had on one or two occasions but at the time of the interviews, only one organisation was using the company.

Local employment received less of an emphasis in other projects. "We employ a local person to do some custodial work like shovelling walks and things of that kind" (Interview 2). The community economic development company in Winnipeg that hires the most inner-city residents does commercial and residential rehabilitation projects. It combines the employment of inner-city residents with training, and as a result, hires low-income earners, teaches them a skill, and increases their incomes. Other training programs combine housing rehabilitation with a crime prevention focus. One hires gang members and others hire youth-at-risk and the third skills training program

focuses on inner-city residents, most of whom are Aboriginal.

It's a training program where we have taken a number of ex-offenders and they're all ex-gang members or actual gang members. What we've done is that we've teamed them up with a couple of carpenters. There are ten trainees and it's very much a hands on learning experience. (Interview 8)

We provide training, there is on the job training. We have five journeyman carpenters on staff and we have set up an apprenticeship program. (Interview 10)

While several of the organizations employ local residents in an administrative capacity, generally non-inner city residents are in charge of the management of the development corporations.

Other training takes place in the form of workshops for neighbourhood residents. Topics include:

How to manage your home, how to manage your money, how to look after your home, how to maintain your home on a tight budget, basic maintenance and cleaning. (Interview 12)

We did a couple on how to buy a house, what you need to do, what you need to look at, are you ready for that, and all those kinds of things. We did financial workshops on very basic budgeting, things that you need to keep in mind because you now own a home. We did workshops on foundations, fence building and all different things. (Interview 15)

The last quote represents the most extensive training or information workshops, apart from employment training, that any of the organizations provided. However, the informant also states that most of the people who participated were those in the rent-to-own homes in the neighbourhood, which indicates that they have not been successful in engaging the wider resident population in these skill-development workshops.

A number of participants were sceptical of the ability of social-housing work to incorporate a training component:

If you are going to do training as well as renovations you are going to screw yourself. You are either going to screw up the training for the houses or you are going to mess up the houses because you want to do training. (Interview 5)

Overall, the employment and skill-development initiatives related to housing provision involve a limited number of residents and other than three training and employment initiatives, the rest of the efforts are aimed exclusively at knowledge transfer. While knowledge is important, there is a huge need for quality, well-paid employment so that residents can afford the housing provided under the current programs in their neighbourhoods. This indicates a need for employment-creation programs of considerable scale to complement the housing initiatives.

Given the limited amount of local hiring by CDCs, there appears to be an opportunity for development corporations to hire more residents in program delivery and management capacities. Hiring local people to be caretakers provides minimal employment and does not lead to skill development or provide opportunities for increasing their income potential.

Disposition of Housing Resources

During the time of the interviews there was housing funding flowing into five inner-city areas of Winnipeg, from all three levels of government. The result has been a visible improvement of the housing stock, an increased sense of safety, improved access to decent housing, and an increase

in housing values in these areas, which together result in increased investment (for experience in West Broadway, see Anderson et al. 2005; Platt 2005). The dominant trend in housing is the provision of affordable units for homeownership. "And even better there are good chances for homeowners to come in which is the best option because we would like to be able to increase homeownership in these neighbourhoods if possible" (Interview 7). One drawback to such an approach is that homeownership is neither attainable nor desirable for everyone. This was grudgingly acknowledged by some participants, for example, "but we still have that goal of helping people move from rental to ownership." (Interview 13) As one of the study participants lamented about this tenure shift:

That is really hard for families that had renter mentality... They don't have the technical, banking, financial and even if they are told this jargon/babble, they are confused. (Interview18)

It is primarily people who are employed with moderate incomes that are eligible for the funding that accompanies these rehabilitated units. In one case, an organization and a financial institution brought a test case to the mortgage regulator, setting a precedent to qualify people on social assistance for mortgages. The household will pay much less for principal, interest and taxes as owner occupants than they previously paid in rent, and because of landlord neglect, this family had done much of its own home maintenance, so this cost will not change significantly. It is generally true, however, that homeownership is more viable for moderate-income families whose financial situation is stable than for those whose incomes are very low.

For many people, houses renovated under recent programs are prohibitively expensive. Even where subsidies minimize down payments and reduce purchase prices, carrying costs such as mortgage payments, insurance, repairs and maintenance expenses exclude those with low incomes. This underlines the need for a diversity of tenure and a variety of subsidies to address housing need.

In addition, these homes are not price restricted forever. Homes built for rental or in a land trust would be more price-restricted. Under the current unrestricted arrangements there is a greater interest in stimulating the neighbourhood housing market than in providing units that are affordable to lower-income earners. "After ten years they are allowed to sell on the market for whatever price they want" (Interview 1). In addition to contributing to meeting the need for employment and contributing to affordability through the temporary price restriction on the homes, the goal of housing is often to save the housing stock. "I would say that there is a secondary objective and that would be to save older housing stock that is beginning to deteriorate" (Interview 2). This orientation towards housing stock is useful in that it places a check on the processes of deterioration that exist in some of the neighbourhoods; however, there is also necessarily a need to balance this objective with the needs or goals of the neighbourhood residents. If the housing stock is being saved under the auspices of affordable housing, it is essential to ensure that the residents are able to remain in the neighbourhood and can afford the housing that is being produced.

Although homeownership is the dominant form of affordable housing that is currently produced, there is some rental housing, as well as recognition of the importance of providing a variety of housing tenures. "[S]hifting and broadening the focus to include rental could really have a huge impact and it could also help these community organizations to develop an asset-base, if they continue to own these buildings in the inner-city" (Interview 3). However, there are barriers to maintaining rental units that can hinder the ability or desire of nonprofits to supply rental units. The cost of maintaining the units is a major issue for the

organizations, especially when they are dispersed throughout a neighbourhood. This underlines the need for government to fund multiunit rental, or to provide rent subsidies for long-term single-unit occupancy.

Funding is also available for repair projects and for hiring housing co-ordinators. "A housing co-ordinator is the person who works with the developers and works with the residents to keep the plans updated, find tenants for the houses that are being renovated, and generally oversees the whole thing to make sure it fits in with the neighbourhood plan" (Interview 4). Housing resources are directed towards a variety of initiatives, from housing rehabilitation to educational workshops. The predominant approach is to pursue activities related to homeownership as the best means of stimulating market forces and increasing private investment in the neighbourhoods. The following section will examine the sources of housing funding and where this money is spent by the nonprofits.

Flows of Financial Resources

Determining the various funding sources and amounts proved to be a complicated process and resulted in little specific information in terms of how financial resources flowed within the social housing sector.

In the case of an employment-creation project, we understand that these resource flows are tracked carefully, but the details were not available to the study team.

Due to the nature of housing work, considerable amounts of the funding are spread out among various trades. For those organizations that subcontract, once a portion is contracted out there is little analysis of how much of the cost was material related and how much was labour related. From an organization's perspective, the overwhelming criterion is that the person doing the job does so cheaply and effectively. Organizations do not have the funding to allow for the close managing and

accounting of a project to the extent required to track the resources. For those organizations that subcontract, the information obtained represents best estimates only.

Additionally, depending on the nature of the rehabilitation, there were varying amounts of money available for the project, resulting in discrepancies in the information in regards to what amounts of funding come from which levels of government. While the study was not able to map out resource flows in detail, it was possible to identify basic trends and to give a clear characterization of the orientation of the sector in terms of the broad social purposes to which the flows of resources were put.

In a typical project, organizations access \$10,000 per unit from the province through the Neighbourhood Housing Assistance program, and \$10,000 from the City. Some then receive an additional \$30,000 from the province through the Affordable Housing Initiative (AHI). One informant states that there is up to \$75,000 available for a rehabilitation through AHI, however, it seems as though \$30,000 is usually the most allotted for a unit. Therefore, each house has between \$20-50,000 of grants that help bridge the gap between the costs, including purchase and renovation or construction, and the market value of the home. The remainder of the financing is provided by mortgages generally equivalent to 75 percent of the eventual market value of the house. The grants thus become a subsidy to the purchaser and the mortgage a long-term debt. The subsidies are then written off over a 10 to 15 year period.

In addition to the grants available for full rehabilitation, there are neighbourhood-designated grants for various maintenance or renovation projects. These grants are primarily for exterior clean-up to improve the houses and increase the attractiveness of the neighbourhoods. There is \$60,000 (\$30,000 from the province and an equal amount from the City) available for these grants on a yearly basis to be divided among those who

apply.

In terms of inputs into a housing unit, funds go into the acquisition of the boarded-up or dilapidated homes or sometimes empty lots, materials, and labour including sub-trades such as electricians and plumbers. One respondent gave the following thumbnail of rehabilitation costs:

I would say probably a rough estimate. Wages would be about 50 percent, materials about 25 percent, and subcontractors about 25 percent. It varies from job to job but it averages out to about that. (Interview 10).

The cost of managing the housing and running the programs is a concern for both the organizations and the funders. The government favours the production of units as opposed to spending on administrative costs as it perceives there to be little public support for public monies being spent on management. Additionally, if the renovation projects involve training there is conflict over which government departments should fund the costs of training employees while renovating a home.

From the perspective of the organizations, there is always concern for the funding upon which their services rely, and for the need to provide project management, which is essential to maintaining and rehabilitating housing units. Due to the low levels of monthly housing charges there is little money to cover administrative and maintenance costs.

In contrast to the lack of precision regarding the disposition of financial resources, the purposes towards which it was put showed a definite orientation towards reactivating the property markets locally. The rationale seems innocuous, as put by a community worker:

...if somebody fixes up the exterior of their house everybody in the community benefits. It raises property values and it gives the person next door the incentive to fix up their house. (Interview 15.)

There was, however, no concern with restricting the market. As a community worker expressed it:

The housing stuff, we figure we're only going to do [it] as long as public sector help is needed. Once it pays off for private sector to come in and do it we'll back off. (Interview 5)

As a government worker put it:

So, in the best sense our vision is that we want the values to get to the point where the market is able to maintain that neighbourhood...in other words the idea is to get it to where the market takes over. (Interview 7)

This orientation ignores the way that the operation of the market was a central element in the processes through which inner-city neighbourhoods and residents were marginalized. It also moves away from a CED orientation towards social benefits and is not without consequences. One respondent, a community worker, affirmed faith in market processes as follows:

In my case in the housing, throw money at the highest end of the housing to bring the tax base up and bring the real estate speculation and actually bring in the private sector. (Interview 18)

The effects of price escalation and speculation on rents and ownership costs for low-income residents were clearly sidelined. The respondent continued, pointing out that buying and hiring locally does not factor into social housing work oriented to market processes:

...local decision-making - no, strictly market. (Interview 18)

A number of respondents looked to markets to reverse what they viewed as an accelerating spiral of decline, thereby stabilizing housing provision. There was little discussion, however, of strategies to override market forces if property values should rise beyond the reach of low-income residents, and people are displaced.

The interview results point to a need for more explicit attention to progressive CED principles in order for the use of resources to be firmly directed towards the material needs of current residents.

Social Capital

Empowerment relies on an increase in social capital among neighbourhood residents and particularly among people who participate in civic processes or are actively engaged in their neighbourhood associations. Putnam describes social capital as the: "...features of social organization such as networks, norms, and social trust that facilitate coordination and cooperation for mutual benefit" (1995:67). Once trust has been established, people are able to overcome their isolation and look for opportunities to interact and network. It is the basis of alliances among individuals, community groups and partners (Ferguson & Stoutland 1999). The data indicates that there are some programs attached to the housing projects that build social capital but that there is still significant opportunity for diversifying social development activities as part of a community economic development approach. Some organizations provide orientation sessions to their future tenants.

We talk a lot about community and being good neighbours throughout the application process. We just try to promote the idea we don't feel like we should do it because we want them to do it so that it serves their purposes and not ours. (Interview 1)

Organizations have a difficult time defining the role they should play because they recognize that it should be resident initiated but they also realize that there may be a need to facilitate the process.

When nonprofits produce and manage housing at the local level there is an ability to respond to their residents' needs or suggestions for improvements.

Sometimes to a greater sometimes to a lesser [extent] there can be a developing spirit among the tenants themselves. We have four properties in fairly close proximity, three are triplexes and one is a duplex and the tenants in those buildings know each other fairly well and they occasionally get together for a barbeque in the summer... They asked if we could build or help pay for the cost of building a patio area and we did that so they could have more of a social area. (Interview 2)

Providing spaces that are desired by residents is an ideal way to create opportunities for social interaction among community residents without forcing them into developing community.

Two of the groups interviewed provide a social worker for their employees, in order to help balance the need for both social and economic outcomes when engaging in community economic development.

...[T]hey do spend a lot of time getting in touch with their culture and hopefully kind of getting their life together a little more from a cultural point of view. (Interview 8)

We have a social every month.... When they come to work, it's not just work it's to meet their friends and buddies. We have these sweats and social evenings and because of that there is a lot of camaraderie. (Interview 10)

Addressing social and cultural needs of employees results in a more stable workforce and makes a resource available to them that they can choose to utilize. This increases human dignity and helps create more stable neighbourhood environment.

As organizations grow they may need to expand their operations in a way that compromises local involvement. This can have a negative impact on the creation of social capital.

I think that with the infill houses that the human dignity part gets lost to some extent because it's a larger corporation that is doing the construction and it is very difficult after the fact to get them to do the details. If there were larger amounts of money and you could hire somebody to custom build then you would have the personal relationship with the person doing the building and the dignity aspect wouldn't be lost. (Interview 13)

The informant astutely articulates the loss of decision-making as a power shift, identifying power and who holds it is the first step in being able to reconstruct power relationships so as to increase the level of social capital among neighbourhood residents.

Some interview material suggested that building social capital was a secondary priority compared with social-housing work. One community worker indicated the separation, and the relative importance of these objectives:

We build houses but we like to think we look at the social and community development part as well, as an added feature. (Interview 1)

A government official was even less committed to a CED agenda:

That is the struggle I think. CED is focused at fundamental lasting change, and it is easier to do housing without that. (Interview 4)

Given resources, the priorities could change. However, the orientation to the market as a medium for neighbourhood revitalization and the promotion of owner occupation further hampers the enhancement of social capital. Some community workers explained their support in relation to its effect on individual buyers, saying, "dignity [and] self-respect are impacted through homeownership" (Interview 1); and "affordable home ownership supports stability and human dignity" (Interview 8). Others focused on the impact of owner occupation on the neighbourhoods:

[We] do homeownership programs in order to get more homeowners in the neighbourhood and create stability that way. (Interview 13)

A government official showed commitment to owner occupation in a circular fashion:

And even better there [are] good chances for homeowners to come in which is the best option because we would like to be able to increase homeownership in these neighbourhoods if possible. (Interview 7)

The attraction of owner occupancy as a neighbourhood policy can be explained, at least in part, by its relative feasibility in the absence of ongoing public subsidies needed to augment rents that poor people can pay. However, recognition of the need for affordable rental accommodation, a value underlying social housing in the public housing period and under co-ops and non-profits, was with a few exceptions invisible in social housing provision in the city during the time the study was undertaken. As the following quotation from a community worker shows, there was recognition that low-income residents would be left behind:

...when you start rehabbing a community it is amazing all the sudden market values go up, neighbours start to spruce up their homes...Those are positive things but the negative is that it doesn't necessarily accommodate the low-income people because it starts to improve the neighbourhood and

increase the values. (Interview 16)

In fact participants' rhetoric suggested a tendency to devalue renters as a group. Using a logic that nobody applies to middle-class renters, a government official explained,

One of the biggest problems in a lot of these neighbourhoods is the high incidence of rental property in relation to homeownership ... Renters are not bad people by nature because they don't own the property they don't have a vested interest in maintaining that property. (Interview 7)

A community worker's comment suggests a deeper underlying bias:

The homeowners are bringing their employment income to the neighbourhood and spending it in the neighbourhood. (Interview 16)

Of course, other things being equal, tenants have income and expenditure patterns equivalent to those of owner occupants. Study participants appeared to be using tenure to signify some other form of marginalization, such as processes operating through class, gender or racialisation. Further analysis may point to the particular forms; here we wish to stress that the owner-occupation strategies recently adopted seemed to exacerbate social cleavages rather than to overcome them.

Summary

In summary, the research found evidence that while social housing production in the period under study, the summer of 2004, did embrace a number of CED principles, the practices fell short of being an exemplary model of progressive CED. In the areas of decision-making, employment and training and disposition of housing resources the gap between model and actual practices in part reflect the policy context that constrains program funding. The study found that it is difficult to

determine specific flows of money in affordable housing work due to the nature of housing rehabilitation and the many inputs from sub-trades. Additionally, groups tend to be hesitant to discuss financial matters in detail with an unknown researcher. This could be attributed partly to the competitive funding environment within which they operate. Another aspect could be that there has been little in-depth analysis of the economics of housing work and how the inputs might be redirected in order to create more internal linkages as part of a CED strategy. The analysis of interviews in relation to social-capital development shows a major gap between progressive CED and actual practices. The interviews suggest that the recent orientation towards owner occupation may in fact impede social-capital development.

The following chart synthesizes information from the literature and the interviews, and outlines ideal applications of CED principles to housing rehabilitation as part of a neighbourhood revitalization strategy and compares this with the current application in Winnipeg. This is done in order to identify areas for increased activity, in an effort to increase the application of CED principles to neighbourhood revitalization and housing strategies.

Comparison of Ideal Applications and Current Practices

Component	Ideal Application	Current Practices	
Decision-making	 Community/employee representation on board of directors Frequent community meetings Neighbourhood housing committee Selection committee 	Board representation Infrequent community meetings Housing committee Selection committee	
Employment and Training	 Skilled trades training Employment with neighbourhood development corporations Business creation Care takers 	 Skilled trades training Limited employment with neighbourhood development corporations Housing care takers 	
Disposition of Housing Resources	 Rent-to-own homes Direct purchase homes Rent-geared-to-income units Rehabilitation of dilapidated homes New home buyer down payment assistance New rental supply program Accumulation of asset base Exterior and interior renovation grants Diversity of tenure 	 Rent-to-own units Direct purchase units Rent-geared-to-income units maintained Down payment assistance Exterior and interior renovation grants Few new units in non-profit, co-op or other tenures 	
Flow of Financial Resources	 Land/house acquisition Local demolition Local materials Local trades people Local electricians Local plumbers Administrative costs Long-term reserve funds Local lawyers Local engineers Local architects Concern to reshape markets 	- Limited use of local labour for trades, sub-trades and professional services - Administrative costs that largely leave the community as salaries to non-residents - Maintenance inputs and rehabilitation inputs purchased outside of neighbourhoods due to limited availability - Concern to reactivate market	
Social Capital	 Community feasts Provision of communal resources Orientation sessions Neighbourhood workshops Participation on neighbourhood committees Social events Social inclusion 	Most activities listed in the ideal column are evident Participation is limited to housing residents Tendency towards social fragmentation	

RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

From this chart it is clear that there are many areas where the ideals of CED match with the current practice in Winnipeg but it is also worthwhile to note that there are still opportunities for increasing internal linkages, both economic and social. The leaky bucket theory of CED requires more local purchasing of goods and services and organizations are only committed to such a strategy as long as the price is competitive. While funding is limited and there must be a search for efficiency of spending, it is also essential to realize the indirect economic benefits of purchasing and hiring locally. A commitment to local purchasing is based on a long-term approach to development and an understanding of the economic multiplier effect of community economic development. Additionally, there is still limited resident participation in daily decision-making and in resident involvement in the management and running of some community development corporations and housing nonprofits.

One of the areas not extensively explored in this study is the larger policy framework that directs the activities and funding opportunities available to neighbourhood associations, community development corporations, and housing nonprofits. For CED to be effective within an urban context, municipalities must take the lead in promoting and encouraging community economic development initiatives. Provincial governments can only achieve so much through their policies. Manitoba is in an interesting position where the province at a policy level has expressed a desire to incorporate CED into projects, not just in housing but all programs directed at a neighbourhood or community. There is a need for municipalities to also adopt a CED ideology because municipalities have the capability to hinder or facilitate housing creation through the provision of land, processing of applications, and supplying of funding. The following is a list of what municipalities can do to encourage CED:

- 1. Convene diverse sectors
- Create favourable conditions
- Support job creation
- Incorporate the concept of economic opportunity within all municipal programs
- Remove barriers
- 6. Develop and maintain an information base (Levine et al. 2002: 208-09).

The City of Winnipeg has pursued some of these through the Winnipeg Housing and Homelessness Initiative, by supplying some funding for housing rehabilitation and creation, and by encouraging the creation of neighbourhood associations. However, there is always room for increased integration of community economic development principles, including a clearer articulation by the City of their CED ideology.

Local decision-making happens to varying extents, depending on the position of the non-profit and the strength of the community development corporations. On an individual resident level there is very little involvement in the decision-making process.

Employment and job training were recognized as essential pieces of a CED and housing strategy; however, there was a tendency to confine employment opportunities to carpentry and property caretaking. There are unexplored opportunities for diverse employment strategies, when viewing housing as a component of CED instead of housing being the overarching goal that is addressed using a CED framework.

The disposition of housing resources is primarily directed to homeownership units, thus not addressing the housing needs of low-income people who cannot qualify for mortgages. It is true that there are inherent incentives for landlords in a largely rental market to under-invest in maintenance and to allow properties to deteriorate.

However, this problem can be addressed equally well with rent subsidies and non-profit rental, and does not require owner occupancy as a solution.

There is also opportunity for more focus on asset creation and using this to leverage for other resources. The accumulation of assets would include rental properties as opposed to homes that are sold and then become part of the private housing market. By retaining units, there are land and physical assets that can in turn aid in securing greater funding. Flows of resources were difficult to determine because of the nature of housing rehabilitation work, which involves several subtrades and many diverse inputs, and because there is neither requirement nor funds to track them. Currently much of the money goes either to labour or materials and relatively little is spent on acquisitions, although there are indications that as values rise and as homes are renovated there are fewer cheap, dilapidated homes on the market which will impact acquisition costs as a component of housing work. The orientation of expenditures towards reactivating the market rather than transforming it jeopardizes gains of current programming in relation to poor people.

Social capital is built through programs and initiatives that bring residents together and there is significant focus on social development outcomes, however, there is opportunity for extending these programs beyond the homeowners of the renovated units to incorporate all residents. The predominant focus on owner occupation tends to widen social cleavages rather than building inclusion, limiting social capital enhancement.

Specific recommendations include:

- Training in CED should be provided for government officials and community workers in social housing. Greater awareness of CED is a precondition for greater adoption.
- CED should become a guiding principle

- in the housing initiative so that purchasing and hiring decisions may be made with regard to their impact on neighbourhood economies, and not simply in terms of superficial initial costs.
- In the next round of social housing expenditure, funding should be specifically earmarked for tracking financial flows to measure multipliers.
- Social inclusion must be enhanced through provision for tenure in addition to owner occupation. Co-operative, non-profit, condominium and other tenure categories should also be supported.
- Where owner-occupation strategies are utilized they must be implemented in ways that do not appear to privilege and value owners over people in other tenures.
- Social cohesion must be built through means other than owner occupation. Social infrastructure in the form of community facilities where people can form and enhance bonds directly, rather than through the housing market, is essential.
- Social policy at all levels should become tenure neutral.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Anderson, A., Platt, J., Skelton, I., Butler, G., Chorney, P., Funk, E. and Grant, B. 2005. Social investment in the inner city: Community and capital in West Broadway, Winnipeg. *Canadian Journal of Urban Research* vol 14 no 1: 8-31.
- Blakely, E. J. 1994. *Planning Local Economic Development: Theory and Practice* 2nd Edition. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation. 1991. *Core Housing Need in Canada*. Ottawa: CMHC.
- Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation. 2005. *Revisions of 1996 and 2001 Core Need Estimates*. http://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/en/about/whwedo/whwedo_021.cfm
- Carter, T., Polevychok, C., & Sargent, K. 2005. Canada's 25 Major Metropolitan Centres: A Comparison. Research Highlight No. 6, January 2005. Winnipeg: Institute of Urban Studies, The University of Winnipeg.
- Chisholm, S. 2003. Affordable Housing In Canada's Urban Communities: A Literature Review. CMHC.
- Davis, J.E. 1994. Introduction: Toward a Third Sector Housing Policy. In Davis, J. (ed.) *The Affordable City: Toward a Third Sector Housing Policy*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Douglas, D.J. 1994. Community Economic Development in Canada: Issues, Scope, Definitions and Directions. In Douglas, D.J. (ed.) *Community Economic Development in Canada* vol. 1. Whitby: McGraw-Hill Ryerson Limited.
- Fairbairn, B., Bold, J., Fulton, M., Ketilson, L.
 & Ish, D.1991. Co-operatives and Community Development: Economics in Social Perspective.
 Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan.
- Ferguson, R.F., Stoutland, S.E. 1999. Reconceiv-

- ing the Community Development Field. In Ferguson, R.F. and Dickens, W.T. (eds.) *Urban Problems and Community Development*. Washington D.C.: Brookings Institution Press.
- Goetz, E. 1993. *Shelter Burden: Local Politics and Progressive Housing Policy*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Green, G.P. and Haines, A., 2002. Asset Building & Community Development. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Jackson, A. 2004. *Home Truths: Why the Housing System Matters to all Canadians*. Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.
- Kanter, R. 1995. World Class: Thriving Locally in the Global Economy. Toronto: Simon & Schuster.
- Kemeny, J. 1995. From Public Housing to Social Market: Rental Policy Strategies in Comparative Perspective. London & New York: Routledge.
- Levine, B., Torjman, S., & Born, P. 2002. Community Economic Development in Canadian Cities: From Experiment to Mainstream. In Andrew, C., Graham, K., & Phillips, S. (eds.) Urban Affairs: Back on the Policy Agenda. Montreal & Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Mason, J. 2002. *Qualitative Researching Second Edition*. London: Sage Publications.
- Neighbourhoods Alive! 2002. 11 CED Principles. Using CED Principles To Build Strong Neighbourhoods. Neighbourhoods Alive! Forum, February 22, 2002. Winnipeg.
- Platt, J. 2005. Capturing and Integrating Perception of Change in Neighbourhood GIS. Master of City Planning Thesis, Department of City Planning, University of Manitoba.
- Putnam, R. 1995. Bowling Alone: America's Declining Social Capital. *Journal of Democracy*, vol. 6(1), 65-78.
- Riggin, L., Grasso, P. and Westcott, M. 1992. A

- Framework for Evaluating Housing and Community Development Partnership Projects. *Public Administration Review*, vol. 52(1), 40-6.
- Rubin, H. 1994. There Aren't Going To Be Any Bakeries Here If There Is No Money To Afford Jellyrolls: The Organic Theory of Community Based Development. Social Problems, vol. 41(3), 401-24.
- Selig, C. 2005. A Critical Analysis Of The Community Economic Development Discourse Used By Affordable Housing Providers In Winnipeg. Master of City Planning Thesis, Department of City Planning, University of Manitoba.
- Sewell, J. 1994. *Houses and Homes: Housing for Canadians*. Toronto: James Lorimer & Company.
- Shuman, M. 1998. Going Local: Creating Self-Reliant Communities in a Global Age. Toronto: The Free Press.
- Skelton, I. 2000. Cooperative and nonprofit housing in Winnipeg: Toward a re-engagement of the provision infrastructure. *Canadian Journal of Urban Research* vol 9 no 1: 177-196.
- Skelton, I. 1998. Shelter Shortage: New Directions for Low-Cost Housing Policy in Canada. Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.
- Vidal, A.C. 1997. Can Community Development Re-Invent Itself? *Journal of the American Plan*ning Association, vol. 63(4), 429-37.

APPENDIX: INTERVIEW SCHEDULES

Interview Schedule (Public Official)

- 1. What would you say are the key objectives of the Winnipeg Housing and Homelessness Initiative (Neighbourhood Housing Assistance, Neighbourhoods Alive! CED Committee of Cabinet)?
- 2. What would you say are some reasons why governments chosen to deliver affordable housing primarily through non-profit community organizations?
- 3. The Province of Manitoba has a Community Economic Development lens that is expected to apply to all of its work. In what ways would you see this lens applying to inner city housing renovation?
- 4. Are there ways that more of the principles of community economic development could apply to the housing work than is currently the case?
- 5.Do you expect that housing organizations would be involved in complementary activities such as employment creation, community building, crime prevention, or recreation development?
- 6. What are some opportunities to do more of these social interventions?
- 7. What are some barriers to doing more of these social interventions?
- 8. What problems might be associated with combining housing work and community economic development?
- 9.Do you have other comments you would like to add?

Interview Schedule (Community-based Housing Provider)

- 1. What would you identify as the key objectives of your program
- 2. What would you say are the positive aspects of delivering affordable housing through non-profit community organizations? (as opposed to directly by government)
- 3. What would you say are some negative aspects (or drawbacks) of delivering affordable housing through non-profit community organizations? (as opposed to directly by government)
- 4. Earlier we sent a copy of 10 principles of community economic development. In what ways do you think these principles may apply to inner city housing renovation?
- 5. In what ways do you think these principles may not apply to inner city housing renovation?
- 6. To what extent have you been able to apply these principles in your organization?
- 7. Are there ways that more of the principles could apply to your housing work than currently is the case?.
- 8. Is your organization involved in parallel community building activities such as recreation development, crime prevention, or employment creation, or building social fabric in the community? If so, could you please describe these activities.
- 9. Are there any problems associated with combining housing work and social development activities?
 - 10. Are there any problems associated with com-

bining housing work and community economic development?

11. Are there other comments you would like to add to this interview?



About the Centre...

The Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives is an independent, non-profit research institute funded primarily through organizational and individual membership. It was founded in 1980 to promote research on economic and social issues from a progressive point of view. The Centre produces reports, books and other publications, including a monthly magazine. It also sponsors lectures and conferences.

For more information about the Centre, call or write:

National Office

410-75 Albert Street, Ottawa, ON K1P 5E7 tel: 613-563-1341 fax: 613-233-1458 email: ccpa@policyalternatives.ca

BC Office

1400, 207 West Hastings St., Vancouver, BC V6B 1H7 tel: 604-801-5121 fax: 604-801-5122 e-mail: info@bcpolicyalternatives.org

Manitoba Office

309-323 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, MB R3B 2C1 tel: 204-927-3200 fax: 204-927-3201 e-mail: ccpamb@policyalternatives.ca

Nova Scotia Office

P.O. Box 8355, Halifax, NS B3K 5M1 tel: 902-477-1252 fax: 902-484-63441 e-mail: ccpans@policyalternatives.ca

Saskatchewan Office

105-2505 11th Avenue, Regina, SK S4P 0K6 tel: 306-924-3372 fax: 306-586-5177 e-mail: ccpask@sasktelnet

Au sujet du Centre...

Le Centre canadien de politiques alternatives est un institut de recherche indépendant et sans but lucratif, financé en majeure partie par ses membres individuels et institutionnels. Fondé en 1980, son objectif est de promouvoir les recherches progressistes dans le domaine de la politique économique et sociale. Le Centre publie des rapports et des livres, ainsi qu'une revue mensuelle. Il organise aussi des conférences et des colloques.

Pour de plus amples renseignements, téléphonez ou écrivez au:

Bureau National

410-75 rue Albert, Ottawa, ON K1P 5E7 téléphone : 613-563-1341 télécopier : 613-233-1458 courrier électronique : ccpa@policyalternatives.ca

Bureau de la C.-B.

1400-207 rue West Hastings, Vancouver, C.-B. V6B 1H7 téléphone : 604-801-5121 télécopier : 604-801-5122 courrier électronique : info@bcpolicyalternatives.org

Bureau de Manitoba

309-323 avenue Portage, Winnipeg, MB R3B 2C1 téléphone : 204-927-3200 télécopier : 204-927-3201 courrier électronique : ccpamb@policyalternatives.ca

Bureau de Nouvelle-Écosse

P.O. Box 8355, Halifax, NS B3K 5M1 téléphone : 902-477-1252 télécopier : 902-484-63441 courrier électronique : ccpans@policyalternatives.ca

Bureau de Saskatchewan

105-2505 11e avenue, Regina, SK S4P 0K6 téléphone : 306-924-3372 télécopier : 306-586-5177 courrier électronique : ccpask@sasktelnet